GUIDELINE

Fluid and Nutrition Requirements, and Enteral Feeding

Scope (Staff):	Nursing and Medical Staff
Scope (Area):	NICU KEMH, NICU PCH, NETS WA

Child Safe Organisation Statement of Commitment

CAHS commits to being a child safe organisation by applying the National Principles for Child Safe Organisations. This is a commitment to a strong culture supported by robust policies and procedures to reduce the likelihood of harm to children and young people.

This document should be read in conjunction with this disclaimer

Also refer to Parenteral Nutrition, and Nutrition Room Protocols

Contents

Aim	2
Risk	2
Key points	2
Volume and Glucose requirements	2
Initiation of Enteral Feeding	4
Gastric Tube Feeds	5
2 Hourly to 3 and/or 4 Hourly Feeds (rescheduling of feeds)	7
Withholding enteral feeds	7
Bottle Feeding Infants	7
Also refer to Nutrition: Bottle Feeding a Breastfeeding Infant	8
Feeding Position	8
Teat Size / Shape	8
Signs of Stress or Fatigue	8
Specialised Medical Nutrition Products Post-Discharge	9

Aim

To outline volume, nutritional requirements and the initiation and progression of enteral feeding within the neonatal unit.

Risk

Neonates require adequate nutrients from their prescribed fluid intakes to maintain normal concentrations of blood and tissue nutrients and to grow well. Meeting these nutrient requirements is challenging and large nutritional deficits can occur resulting in faltering growth leading to less favourable neurodevelopment and other long-term health outcomes. Standardised feeding schedules improve neonatal outcomes.

Key points

- Volume requirements are to be re-calculated each shift to ensure the volume being given is the same as the volume ordered.
- Check enteral and IV volumes considered in the total fluid calculation have been titrated accurately for infants receiving both IV fluids and enteral feeds. Note that IV lipid is not included in total fluid calculations and some IV medications may also be excluded from total fluid calculations.
- The 24-hour volume totals are tallied at 12 midnight and adjustments to requirements are made as needed. Infusions not included in the daily total are lipids and blood products.
- IV solutions must be double checked by two nurses at the bedside and labelled with the solution, date/time, infant's name, UMRN and DOB and persons checking.
- EBM and PDHM must be double checked by two nurses at the bedside and labelled with the infant's name, UMRN and DOB. Decanted milk must also have the initials of the nurses checking the milk out of the fridge and have the date and time the milk was taken out of the fridge. In open nursery areas the decanted milk is to be kept to the right of the infants monitor.

Volume and Glucose requirements

- Infants require sufficient fluid volumes to promote optimal hydration, normal concentrations of blood and tissue nutrients, and adequate growth. On day 1, fluids are usually started at 60ml/kg/day for term infants and 80 mL/kg/day for preterm infants.
- Some infants may require fluid restriction 40-50ml/kg/day, always ensure appropriate glucose delivery to achieve PGL>3.5 is calculated e.g. Infants with significant https://hypoxic.ischaemic.encephalopathy.
- Where there are abnormal fluid losses (<u>gastroschisis</u>, gastric or drain losses or diarrhoea) an adequate volume with similar composition must be replaced in addition to the prescribed solution.

Nutritional requirements are as follows:

IV Glucose Solutions		Oral Feeds	TPN	
< 27 weeks	Glucose 5%	GASTRIC TUBE FEEDS		
≥ 27-34 weeks	Glucose 7.5% 1/5 N/S	(EBM / PDHM/formula)	Refer to Parenteral Nutrition (PN) guideline if starting on	
> 34 weeks	Glucose 10%	BREAST / BOTTLE (EBM / formula)	TPN	
See Standardised Enteral Feeding Schedule below for starting volumes/milk type				

- Unless contraindicated, increments are increased progressively at 20 mL/kg/day to an optimal target range of 150-170 mL/kg/day. Fluids are calculated on the infant's birth weight until the birth weight has been reached.
- Review requirements daily, alterations may be needed depending on the infant's clinical state, abnormal weight loss or gain, degree of renal wasting and electrolytes supplied in other infusions/drugs. A predicted/ estimated 'working' weight may be used instead of the current weight e.g. oedema, PDA, failure to thrive.
- Phototherapy and/or radiant warmers can increase insensible water loss. An extra 10-20 mL/kg/day to daily fluid requirements may be needed. Insensible fluid losses in extremely preterm infants can be enormous, especially under a radiant warmer> Fluids > 200 mL/kg/day may be needed. The use of a closed incubator and high humidity (> 80%) helps to reduce this issue. Monitor electrolyte and osmolality estimations (8-12 hourly) in the first few days after birth. See Blood Tests: Ordering.
- Volume calculations. The total volume required for the 24-hour period is calculated by multiplying the infant's weight by the mL/kg/day then dividing by the number of feeds per day. If on continuous intravenous therapy or continuous milk feed it is divided by 24 to give the hourly rate.

E.g. for an infant weighing = 2.135 kg with a daily volume requirement of 120 mL/kg

$2.135 \times 120 = 256 \text{ mL total volume required in 24 hours}$

- 256 mL divided by 24 (hourly rate for intravenous infusion) = 10.7 mL every hour
- 256mL divided by 12 (two hourly feeds / 12 feeds per day) = 21 mL every 2 hours
- 256mL divided by 8 (three hourly feeds / 8 feeds per day) = 32 mL every 3 hours
- 256mL divided by 6 (four hourly feeds / 6 feeds per day) = 43 mL every 4 hours

Initiation of Enteral Feeding

Enteral feeding should be commenced as early as possible ideally within six hours
of birth, and gradually increased as early as possible in the presence of clinical
stability, according to the following <u>Standardised Enteral Feeding Schedule</u> below:

Standardised Enteral Feeding Schedule					
Birth Gestation	Day 1 Of Feeding If EBM Or PDHM Available If formula, commence Term Formula when clinically indicated	Grading Up			
< 26 wk	≤ 10 mL/kg/d (i.e. 1-2 mL/kg 4 to 6 hourly) then ≤ 20 mL/kg/d (i.e. 1-2 mL/kg 2 hourly), then progress →	↑ 20-25 mL/kg/d			
26 - 31 ⁺⁶ wk	\leq 20 mL/kg/d (i.e. 1-2 mL/kg 2 hourly), then progress \rightarrow	↑ 20-≤30 mL/kg/d			
32 - 34 ⁺⁶ wk	60 mL/kg/day maximum if stable, then progress (initially, a proportion of total fluid given IV may be required →	↑ 30-35 mL/kg/d			
≥35 wk	May commence full feeds ± breast feeding if appropriate. Term infants should be offered their first breastfeed within the first few hours after birth if no contraindications.				

- 1. All infants below 32 weeks gestation are to receive 0.2mL of EBM orally and documented on MR489.00A/B Fluid balance chart A/B with each feed as available (in addition to the ordered feed amount). Or PDHM (with parental consent if EBM not available or not chosen)
- 2. Infants on continuous milk feeds are to receive 0.2 mL of EBM orally, 2 hourly until suck feeds commence.
- 3. Rate of feed increments are at the discretion of the attending neonatologist
- For infants of mother's who choose not to breast feed their infant, or cannot supply
 enough milk for their infant, options include pasteurised donor human milk (PDHM)
 for infants meeting the PDHM criteria, or infant formula. Privately sourced
 expressed breast milk will not be accepted due to the safety risks associated with
 this milk.
- Preterm infants are to receive their own mother's breast milk preferably in the order in which it is expressed ensuring that infants receive the nutritional and immunological benefits of colostrum and early milk. Mothers often produce more milk than is required by their infants in the first few days of life. Freeze the surplus early milk and defrost to use before fresh milk expressed later. Early milk has higher protein concentration and there is weak evidence to suggest that freezing milk may reduce or eliminate CMV. Mother's own fresh milk can be used if frozen early milk is not readily available and as breastfeeds are introduced.

- Pasteurised Donor Human Milk (PDHM) is supplied for all neonates ≤32+6 weeks gestation and/or ≤1500grams when breast milk is not available (or mothers choose not to breastfeed). Other infants with a risk of feed intolerance will be considered for PDHM on an individual basis by Consultant/SR. PDHM is usually fed up until a corrected gestation of 34 weeks unless demand for PDHM is high. Parent consent is required for use of PDHM.
- **Early trophic feeds** maintain gut integrity^{12,13} and are encouraged for all infants when EBM or PDHM is available. If unable to grade up feeds, consider trophic feeds of ≤10 mL/kg/d (i.e. 1-2 mL/kg 4 to 6 hourly).
- Breast milk and infant formula fortification/supplementation. Parental consent is needed prior to giving formula milk when mother's own breastmilk is unavailable, and/or PDHM are not options. Referral to the neonatal dietitian is recommended to manage specific medical conditions.
 - Consider human milk fortifier for preterm infants (<37 wk GA) once breast milk intakes of 80 mL/kg/day are achieved.
 - Use term formula to fortify breastmilk for term infants (>37 wk GA) with growth failure.
- Refer to Nutrition Room Protocols for:
 - Fortified Expressed Breast Milk and Formula Feeds (Table 1)
 - Estimated Composition of Standardised Preterm EBM and Preterm Formula Feeds (Table 3).

Infant formula feeding

- <35 GA: Commence as per <u>Standardised Feeding Schedule</u> using Term Formula and progress as tolerated. Transition to Preterm Formula when tolerating full oral feeds.
- >35 GA: Commence as per <u>Standardised Feeding Schedule</u> using Term Formula and progress as tolerated.

Gastric Tube Feeds

Continuous Milk Feeds (CMF)

- CMF are recommended for neonates with signs of intolerance with intermittent/bolus feeds, respiratory compromise exacerbated by bolus feeds, and/or persistent hypoglycaemia.
- Use a syringe pump and an enteral Luer lock syringe 30 mL/50 mL with a long extension (change daily), or if using a Kangaroo Pump, see <u>Kangaroo Pump</u> instructions.
- Decant 3 hours volume of milk, use a mixing cannula to aspirate into the syringe.
 Add the long extension tubing and prime line first to prevent air being pumped into the stomach. Label syringe with infant details as per labelling requirements. Attach

- a 'continuous milk feed' sticker and label extension line with the date/time to be changed
- Refer to Gastric Tube Feeding in the NICU for testing procedure prior to feeding.
- Calculate hourly rate, set calculated rate on pump and commence infusion.
 Changes and setting of rates to be double checked by nursing staff.
- Document type of milk and hourly volume delivered on the observation chart.

Rescheduling from CMF to 2 hourly feeds

- Multiple changes to feeds should not be made simultaneously. Therefore, if the feed is increasing in volume, achieve this before changing time interval.
- Document and report any large residuals or vomiting, indicating feed intolerance.
- Turn CMF off for a period of one hour before commencing the first bolus feed. E.g. infant on 5mL CMF progressing to 10mL 2 hourly

Exam	ple	Start time	1hr later										
TIME	0800	0900	1000	1100	1200	1300	1400	1500	1600	1700	1800	1900	2000
5mL/hr	CMF off	5mL	5mL	4mL	6mL	3mL	7mL	2mL	8mL	1mL	9mL	0mL	10mL

Intermittent/Bolus

- Intermittent feeds have been shown to induce cyclical bursts of enteroinsular hormones. These hormones stimulate gut growth, mucosal development, increase gut motility, and influence pancreatic endocrine secretion and hepatic metabolism.
- Suitable for stable neonates that are too immature to suck feeds and/or unable to take adequate nutrition to grow. Feed 2, 3 or 4 hourly depending on diagnosis, weight, gestational age. Refer to <u>Gastric Tube Feeding in the NICU</u> for gastric tube testing procedure prior to feeding.
- Infants ≤35 weeks GA should be tube fed in a side-lying or prone position.
- Infants >35 weeks GA should be fed in a side-lying position unless prone positioning is indicated for medical reasons.
- Position yourself so the infant is facing towards you during the feed so you can act promptly in the event of vomiting or distress.
- Parents can hold the syringe whilst their infant is receiving a tube feed provided they wish to do so and the criteria in the <u>Gastric Tubes: Learning Package for</u> Parents Holding Syringe During Gastric Tube Feeding are met.

2 Hourly to 3 and/or 4 Hourly Feeds (rescheduling of feeds)

- The progression towards demand feeding is achieved by increasing the time between feeds according to the neonate's size, condition, and tolerance of feeds.
- A slow progression from 2 to 3 to 4 hourly feeds may suit neonates who have had previous attempts at rescheduling of feeds and have failed to tolerate the larger volume.

For example, rescheduling from 2 hourly feeds (20 mLs) to 3 hourly feeds (30 mLs)

 Add the 2-hour volume + 3-hour volume together 		
 Divide combined volume by 2 Give this volume every 2 ½ hour 	20 + 30 = 50mL 2	= 25 mL every 2 ½ hours
for the next 2 feeds and if tolerated, continue after 3 hourly with the full 3 hourly volume.		

Start time	2½ hours later	2½ hours later	3 hours later
(0800)	(1030)	(1300)	(1600)
20 mL	25 mL	25 mL	30 mL

Withholding enteral feeds

Is necessary for any haemodynamically unstable infant with:

- **Sepsis**: In unstable patients with sepsis, consider withholding feeds until 24 48 hours of antibiotic therapy is completed, the blood pressure is stable without inotropes or colloidal support, and respiratory assistance is back to the baseline levels before clinical deterioration occurred.
- NEC: Continuation of milk feeding during the period of suspected sepsis or NEC will be at the discretion of the attending neonatologist.
 - o (> Stage II): Feeds are stopped for a minimum of 7 days.
- Blood Transfusion: In infants thought to be at high risk of NEC, consider ceasing feeds for 4 hours prior to giving a blood transfusion and then resume feeds 4 hours after blood product completion¹⁵. If feeds are ceased, replacement IV fluids may be required.
- PDA: Small feeds may be continued during Indomethacin therapy for PDA.

Bottle Feeding Infants

• From 32-34 weeks onwards, the rooting reflex is quite active and nutritive sucking begins with a stable rhythm, to progress to full suck feeds the infant has to have

- sufficient neurodevelopment to regulate a rhythmic suck-swallow-breathe pattern with cardiorespiratory stability.
- At 34-36 weeks most infants will have developed awake/sleep patterns and be capable of managing nutritive sucking with a coordinated pattern.
- Between 34-40 weeks healthy infants will maintain satisfactory growth with full oral feeding by demand.

Also refer to Nutrition: Bottle Feeding a Breastfeeding Infant.

Feeding Position

- Position is important and depends on the infants muscle tone. The head must be in alignment with the trunk and all limbs must be contained (wrapped) or supported.
- Preterm infants especially cannot always cope with the cradled semi-recumbent posture of the term infants and may cope better if supported in a semi-upright position. Careful attention to correct alignment is paramount.
- Some infants with CLD or other complex problems benefit from an elevated sidelying position. Oxygen dependent infants may need an increase in their O₂ requirements until they develop a coordinated rhythm.
- If the infant loses interest in sucking or uses a non-nutritive (chomping) action and
 is not showing signs of stress or fatigue, it may be helpful to gently support the
 infant's lower jaw near the base of the tongue to improve jaw stability. Excessive
 manipulation of the teat is likely to be distressing and over stimulating resulting in
 'shut-down'.

Teat Size / Shape

A variety of teats are available in the unit to support infant feeding, including Sepel, Medela and Pigeon Teats. Try not to switch between different teats for at least 24 hours to assess progress. Start with a white sepal teat for babies <2.5 kg (see Table p9). Preterm infants initially have an uncoordinated suck-swallow-breath technique and tend to suck vigorously and not pause long enough to breathe which can result in apnoea, desaturation, and bradycardia. Pacing the feed and tilting the bottle so no milk is in the teat or removing the teat from their mouth will allow them to recover. Involve a feeding specialist/team where needed.

Sepel Teats						
Colour	White	Blue	Blue	Green		
Code	XTUF-F	XTXF-F	STXF-F	XTSF-F		
Teat	Extra Small	Extra Small	Small	Extra Small		
Flow	Ultra Slow	Extra Slow	Extra slow	Slow		

Medela and Pigeon Teats						
	Disposable	Disposable	Re-usable	Re-usable		
Colour	Clear	Clear	Clear	Clear		
Code	Medela Blue writing	Medela Red writing	Pigeon Peristaltic Teat	Pigeon Ringed Teat		
Teat	Preterm / Term	Term	Preterm / Term	Preterm / Term		
Flow	Slow Slow	Medium	Extra slow	Slow		
Note: Dr Brown's teats may be available through a feeding specialist.						

Signs of Stress or Fatigue

Can occur before, during or after a feed and include the following:

- Limpness.
- Gagging and/or squirming.
- Desaturation, rapid / laboured or irregular breathing and bradycardia.

If any of these signs are present, stop the feed and wait for the infant to regain their stability. Try positioning the infant upright (may be wind related). If after recommencing the feed the infant shows signs of stress again, complete the feed by the gastric tube.

Specialised Medical Nutrition Products Post-Discharge

Specialised medical nutrition products (e.g. Neocate, Pepti Junior) may be required to manage nutrition-related medical conditions of some infants. These products are expensive, unless available on the Pharmaceuticals Benefit Scheme, and subject to meeting criteria, infants may be eligible for one-month supply at discharge through pharmacy, while awaiting specialist review. See Nutrition Room Protocols

Related CAHS internal policies, procedures and guidelines

Gastric Tube Feeding in the NICU (health.wa.gov.au)

Labelling of Injectable Medications and Fluids (health.wa.gov.au)

Necrotising Enterocolitis

Nutrition: Bottle Feeding a Breastfeeding Infant (health.wa.gov.au)

Parenteral Nutrition (health.wa.gov.au)

Useful resources (including related forms)

Kangaroo ePump Instructions

References and related external legislation, policies, and guidelines

- 1. Alexander T, Asadi S, Meyer M, Harding JE, Jiang Y, Alsweiler JM, Muelbert M, Bloomfield FH; DIAMOND Trial Group. Nutritional Support for Moderate-to-Late-Preterm Infants A Randomized Trial. N Engl J Med. 2024 Apr 25;390(16):1493-1504. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2313942. PMID: 38657245.
- 2. Alexander T, Meyer M, Harding JE, Alsweiler JM, Jiang Y, Wall C, Muelbert M, Bloomfield FH; DIAMOND Study Group. Nutritional Management of Moderate-and Late-Preterm Infants Commenced on Intravenous Fluids Pending Mother's Own Milk: Cohort analysis from the DIAMOND Trial. Front Pediatr.
- 3. Assad M, Jerome M, Olyaei A, Nizich S, Hedges M, Gosselin K, Scottoline BA-O. Dilemmas in establishing preterm enteral feeding: where do we start and how fast do we go? LID 10.1038/s41372-023-01665-w [doi]. (1476-5543 (Electronic)).
- 4. Bloomfield FH, Harding JE, Alexander T. Nutritional Support for Moderate-to-Late-Preterm Infants. Reply. N Engl J Med. 2024 Jul 11;391(2):191-192. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2406681. PMID: 38986075.
- 5. Brown JV, Embleton ND, Harding JE, McGuire W. Multi-nutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; (5): CD000343.
- 6. Bardanzellu F, Fanos V, Reali A. Human Breast Milk-acquired Cytomegalovirus Infection: Certainties, Doubts and Perspectives. Curr Pediatr Rev 2019; 15(1): 30-41.
- 7. Berseth CL. Effect of early feeding on maturation of the preterm infant's small intestine. J Pediatr 1992; 120(6): 947-53.
- 8. Brown JV, Lin L, Embleton ND, Harding JE, McGuire W. Multi-nutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2020, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD000343. DOI:10.1002/14651858. CD000343.pub4. Accessed 24 July 2024
- 9. Dorling J, Hewer O, Hurd M, Bari V, Bosiak B, Bowler U, King A, Linsell L, Murray D, Omar O, Partlett C, Rounding C, Townend J, Abbott J, Berrington J, Boyle E, Embleton N, Johnson S, Leaf A, McCormick K, McGuire W, Patel M, Roberts T, Stenson B, Tahir W, Monahan M, Richards J, Rankin J, Juszczak E. Two speeds of increasing milk feeds for very prterm or very low birthweight infants: the SIFT RCT. Health Technol Assess. 2020 Apr;24(18):1-94. doi: 10.3310/hta24180.
- 10. Embleton N, Jennifer Moltu S, Lapillonne A, van den Akker CP, Carnielli V, Fusch C, et al. Enteral Nutrition in Preterm Infants (2022): A Position Paper From the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition and Invited Experts. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. 2022;76(2):248-68. (Access Supplemental Digital Content).
- 11. Friis H, Andersen HK. Rate of inactivation of cytomegalovirus in raw banked milk during storage at -20 degrees C and pasteurisation. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982; 285: 1604-5.
- 12. Goldberg GL, Becker PJ, Brigham K, Calson S, Fleck L, Gollina L, Sandrock M, Fullmer M, Can Poots HA; Identifying Malnutrition in Preterm and Neonatal Populations: Recommended Indicators. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 2018 Jan; 118(9): 1571-1572, 1574-1582.
- 13. Hair AB, Scottoline B, Good M. Dilemmas in human milk fortification. Journal of perinatology: official journal of the California Perinatal Association. 2023;43(1):103-7
- 14. Huang T, Cai W, Ni C, Lai S, Lin S, Wang Q. Changes in cytomegalovirus load in the breast milk of very/extremely premature infants and the effect of pasteurization and freeze-thawing on reducing viral load. Front Pediatr. 2022 Aug 23;10:900249. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.900249. PMID: 36081633; PMCID: PMC9447991.
- 15. Jasani B, Patole S. Standardized feeding regimen for reducing necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm infants: an updated systematic review. J Perinatol 2017; 37(7): 827-33.
- 16. Jasani B, Rao S, Patole S. Withholding Feeds and Transfusion-Associated Necrotizing Enterocolitis in Preterm Infants: A Systematic Review. Adv Nutr 2017; 8(5): 764-9.
- 17. Jochum F, Moltu SJ, Senterre T, Nomayo A, Goulet O, Iacobelli S; ESPGHAN/ESPEN/ESPR/CSPEN working group on pediatric parenteral nutrition. ESPGHAN/ESPEN/ESPR/CSPEN guidelines on pediatric parenteral nutrition: Fluid and electrolytes. Clin Nutr. 2018 Dec;37(6 Pt B):2344-2353. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.06.948. Epub 2018 Jun 18. PMID: 30064846.
- 18. Kempley S, Gupta N, Linsell L, et al. Feeding infants below 29 weeks' gestation with abnormal antenatal Doppler: analysis from a randomised trial. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2014; 99(1): F6-F11.
- 19. Koletzko B, Cheah FC, Domellöf M, Poindexter BB, Vain N, van Goudoever JB. Nutritional Care of Preterm Infants: Scientific Basis and Practical Guidelines: S. Karger AG; 2021.
- 20. Lapillonne A, Bronsky J, Campoy C, et al. Feeding the Late and Moderately Preterm Infant: A Position Paper of the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2019; 69(2): 259-70.
- 21. Meek JY, Noble L, Section on Breastfeeding; Policy Statement: Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. Pediatrics July 2022; 150 (1): e2022057988. 10.1542/peds.2022-057988Eidelman AI, RJ S. American Academy of Pediatrics. Policy Statement. Breastfeeding and the Use of Human Milk. Pediatrics 2012; 129.

[Nutrition Requirements and Enteral Feeding]

- 22. Moltu SJ, Bronsky J, Embleton N, Gerasimidis K, Indrio F, Koglmeier J, et al. Nutritional Management of the Critically III Neonate: A Position Paper of the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2021;73(2):274-89.
- 23. Morgan J, Bombell S, McGuire W. Early trophic feeding versus enteral fasting for very preterm or very low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; 3: CD000504.
- 24. Muelbert M, Lin L, Bloomfield FH, Harding JE. Exposure to the smell and taste of milk to accelerate feeding in preterm infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2019; (7).
- 25. National Health and Medical Research Council. Literature Review: Infant Feeding Guidelines 2012. Published December 2012. Accessed March 6, 2025. www.nhmrc.gov.au/sites/default/files/images/literature-review-infant-feeding-guidelines.pdf
- 26. Oddie SJ, Young L, McGuire W. Slow advancement of enteral feed volumes to prevent necrotising enterocolitis in very low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021 Aug 24;8(8):CD001241. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001241.pub8. PMID: 34427330; PMCID: PMC8407506.
- 27. Owens L, Burrin DG, Berseth CL. Minimal enteral feeding induces maturation of intestinal motor function but not mucosal growth in neonatal dogs. J Nutr 2002; 132(9): 2717-22.
- 28. Parker MG, Stellwagen LM, Noble L, Kim JH, Poindexter BB, Puopolo KM, Section on Breastfeeding, Committee on Nutrition, Committee in Fetus and Newborn; Promoting Human Milk and Breastfeeding for the Very Low Birth Weight Infant. Pediatrics November 2021;148 (5): e2021054272. 10.1542/peds.2021-054272
- 29. Patole S. Strategies for prevention of feed intolerance in preterm neonates: a systematic review. The journal of maternal-fetal & neonatal medicine: the official journal of the European Association of Perinatal Medicine, the Federation of Asia and Oceania Perinatal Societies, the International Society of Perinatal Obstet 2005;18(1):67-76.
- 30. Patole SK, de Klerk N. Impact of standardised feeding regimens on incidence of neonatal necrotising enterocolitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2005; 90(2): F147-51.
- 31. St-Onge M, Chaudhry S, Koren G. Donated breast milk stored in banks versus breast milk purchased online. Canadian Family Physician 2015; 61(2): 143-146. https://www.cfp.ca/content/61/2/143.long External Legislation, Standards and Policy
- 32. Tahir W, Monahan M, Dorling J, Hewer O, Bowler U, Linsell L, Partlett C, Berrington JE, Boyle E, Embleton N, Johnson S, Leaf A, McCormick K, McGuire W, Stenson BJ, Juszczak E, Roberts TE. Economic evaluation alongside the Speed of Increasing milk Feeds Trial (SIFT). Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2020 Apr 2: fetalneonatal-2019-318346. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-318346
- 33. Thoene M, Anderson-Berry A. Early Enteral Feeding in Preterm Infants: A Narrative Review of the Nutritional, Metabolic, and Developmental Benefits. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(7):2289. doi:10.3390/nu13072289 https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC8308411/
- 34. Chancharoenthana W, Kamolratanakul S, Schultz MJ, Leelahavanichkul A. The leaky gut and the gut microbiome in sepsis targets in research and treatment. Clin Sci (Lond). 2023 Apr 26;137(8):645-662.
- 35. Feldman, K., Noel-MacDonnell, J. R., Pappas, L. B., Romald, J. H., Olson, S. L., Oschman, A., Cuna, A. C., & Sampath, V. (2025). Incidence of probiotic sepsis and morbidity risk in premature infants: a meta-analysis. *Pediatric research*, 10.1038/s41390-025-04072-3. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-025-04072-3
- 36. Lemme-Dumit JM, Song Y, Lwin HW, Hernandez-Chavez C, Sundararajan S, Viscardi RM, Ravel J, Pasetti MF, Ma B. Altered Gut Microbiome and Fecal Immune Phenotype in Early Preterm Infants With Leaky Gut. Front Immunol. 2022 Feb 23;13:815046. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.815046.
- 37. Wiwat Chancharoenthana, Supitcha Kamolratanakul, Marcus J. Schultz, Asada Leelahavanichkul; The leaky gut and the gut microbiome in sepsis targets in research and treatment. Clin Sci (Lond) 26 April 2023; 137 (8): 645–662. doi: https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20220777

[Nutrition Requirements and Enteral Feeding]

This document can be made available in alternative formats on request.

Document Owner:	Neonatology						
Reviewer / Team:	Neonatal Coordinating Group						
Date First Issued:	June 2006	June 2006 Last Reviewed: July 2024					
Amendment Dates:	New guideline combining the following: Enteral Feeding: Bolus Tube Feeds, Continuous Milk Feed (CMF), Bottle Feeds; Enteral Feeding: Initiation and Progression; Nutrition Volume and Nutritional Requirements April 2025 – initiation of enteral feeding within 6 hours of birth October 2025 – addition of withholding feeds for suspected NEC or sepsis at discretion of Neonatologist	Next Review Date:	July 2027				
Approved by:	Neonatal Coordinating Group	Date:	30/07/2024				
Endorsed by:	Neonatal Coordinating Group		30/01/2024				
Standards Applicable:	NSQHS Standards: Child Safe Standards: 1,10						

Printed or personally saved electronic copies of this document are considered uncontrolled



Healthy kids, healthy communities

Excellence Collaboration Accountability

Neonatology | Community Health | Mental Health | Perth Children's Hospital